2018

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Patrick Bobby Jr. Galindo,
Defendant/Appellant : Brief of Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

Introduction

The State charged Appellant Patrick Galindo with attempted murder and possession of a firearm by a restricted person. Before trial, his counsel raised the question of his competency. The Utah Code provides that a person is incompetent to stand trial if he “is suffering from . . . mental retardation resulting . . . in . . . his inability to consult with his counsel and to participate in the proceedings against him with a reasonable degree of rational understanding.” Utah Code Ann. §§ 77-15-1, 77-15-2 (West).¹ The trial court ordered two psychological evaluations of Mr. Galindo to assess his competency.

One of the psychological evaluations listed Mr. Galindo’s IQ at 54, plus or minus 5—well below the mental retardation threshold score of 70. R.56, 60. This psychologist also explained that trial counsel for Mr. Galindo was unavailable to discuss Mr. Galindo’s ability to counsel with him and to rationally participate in the proceedings before the evaluation was filed. R.65.

¹ Mr. Galindo was charged July, 6 2016. The language of Utah Code Ann. section 77-15-2 changed in relevant part in May, 2018, to provide that a person is competent to stand trial if he has

- (a) a rational and factual understanding of the criminal proceedings against the defendant and of the punishment specified for the offense charged; and
- (b) the ability to consult with the defendant’s legal counsel with a reasonable degree of rational understanding in order to assist in the defense.

The other psychologist used another test, the WASI test, to assess Mr. Galindo's mental capacity. R.45. He reported that Mr. Galindo's score of T=33 placed him in the fifth percentile. R.45. This psychologist also admitted that Mr. Galindo's intellectual disability impacted his ability to understand what was going on in court. R.48.

Both psychologists deemed Mr. Galindo competent to stand trial, even though they left the final determination of his competency up to the court. At the competency hearing, trial counsel for Mr. Galindo stipulated to Mr. Galindo's competency rather than raising and bringing to the court's attention the many issues the reports presented. The trial court relied on trial counsel's stipulation when it found Mr. Galindo competent to stand trial.

A jury later found Mr. Galindo guilty of attempted murder. Mr. Galindo then pleaded guilty to possessing a firearm as a restricted person for handling the gun the night of the shooting.

Issues Presented

Issue 1: Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance when he stipulated to Mr. Galindo's competency?

Standard of Review: "An ineffective assistance of counsel claim raised for the first time on appeal presents a question of law." *State v. Clark*, 2004 UT 25, ¶ 6, 89 P.3d 162.

Preservation: An ineffective assistance of counsel claim is an “exception to the preservation requirement.” *State v. Kozlov*, 2012 UT App 114, ¶ 35, 276 P.3d 1207.

Issue 2: Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance when he failed to talk with the court-appointed psychologists to discuss Mr. Galindo’s ability to counsel with him and to participate at trial?

Standard of Review: “An ineffective assistance of counsel claim raised for the first time on appeal presents a question of law.” *Clark*, 2004 UT 25, ¶ 6.

Preservation: Ineffective assistance of counsel is an “exception to the preservation requirement.” *Kozlov*, 2012 UT App 114, ¶ 35. Because this claim relies on facts outside of the record, Mr. Galindo has filed a Rule 23B motion concurrently with this brief.

Issue 3: Do the above errors cumulate to warrant reversal on appeal because together they raise sufficient doubt as to whether Mr. Galindo should have been found competent to stand trial?

Standard of Review: “When reviewing a claim of cumulative error, [appellate courts] apply the standard of review applicable to each underlying claim of error.” *State v. MacNeill*, 2017 UT App 48, ¶ 53, 397 P.3d 626 (quotation omitted). “An ineffective assistance of counsel claim raised for the first time on appeal presents a question of law.” *Clark*, 2004 UT 25, ¶ 6.

Preservation: Cumulative error based on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel circumvents this court's preservation requirement. *State v. Low*, 2008 UT 58, ¶ 19, 192 P.3d 867.

Statement of the Case

1. Somebody shot Ramon Guzman

Late one night, two men were walking down a street in downtown Ogden when they “seen two people hanging out of the window” from an apartment above them. R.929. The two groups yelled fighting words at each other, and Ramon Guzman told the men in the apartment to “bring it over here mother f*cker.” R.418; R.841; R.929. Three men exited the apartment, crossed the street, and confronted the two men—who at that point were brandishing knives. R.932; R.853. The two groups did not know each other. Mr. Guzman thought they were going to fight, but almost immediately, the middle of the three assailants shot him four times and turned and fled. R.843. The gun was later found in the bushes near the apartment building. R.716.

Mr. Guzman—who survived the shooting—said he got a good look at his shooter. R.845. He later identified Mr. Galindo as the shooter in a photo line-up. R.880–81. Mr. Galindo's fingerprints were also found on the gun's magazine. R.504–05.

The police charged Mr. Galindo with attempted murder, felony discharge of a firearm, and possession or use of a firearm by a restricted person. R.1. The

State dropped the charge of felony discharge of a firearm and the trial court held a bifurcated trial, trying only the issue of whether it was Mr. Galindo or someone else who shot Mr. Guzman on the street. R.148; R.1260.

2. The competency determination

Before trial, trial counsel asked the court to evaluate Mr. Galindo's competency. R.34. As the basis for the competency evaluation, trial counsel stated, "In conversing with Mr. Galindo, in the past several court hearings, Mr. Galindo does not appear to be able to comprehend what is going on. Or make rational decisions regarding this case." R.37. The court ordered two psychologists to examine Mr. Galindo. R.38.

One of the psychologists who examined Mr. Galindo was Dr. Rick Hawks. The Hawks Report placed Mr. Galindo on the schizophrenia spectrum due to the voices that Mr. Galindo reported hearing. R.56. It listed his depression and anxiety, as well as borderline and antisocial personality disorders. R.56. It detailed Mr. Galindo's suicidal ideations and his past attempt at suicide and self-mutilation. R.60.

The Hawks Report reported that Mr. Galindo's IQ "fell within the mental retardation/intellectual impairment range of intellectual functioning"—it reported his IQ as 54, plus or minus 5. R.56; R.60. Mental retardation "is clearly defined by the American Psychiatric Association" as having a measured IQ of 70 and below. R.60. The Hawks Report also stated that Dr. Hawks had not been able

to speak with Mr. Galindo's trial counsel before making his ultimate conclusion regarding Mr. Galindo's competence, despite an attempt to contact him during the course of the evaluation. R.65.

The other psychologist who examined Mr. Galindo was Dr. Renée Wilkinson. Like the Hawks Report, the Wilkinson Report weighed in on Mr. Galindo's intelligence. Using the WASI test (Weschler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence), the Wilkinson Report placed Mr. Galindo at an IQ score of T=33, placing him in the fifth percentile. R.45. The Wilkinson Report initially stated that Mr. Galindo "is not able to consult with his attorney and participate in the proceeding against him with a reasonable degree of rational understanding," but concluded that Mr. Galindo was competent to proceed to trial anyway. R.41. The Wilkinson Report also acknowledged that Mr. Galindo was "confused by what is being discussed in court," but stated that if he was confused he could "ask his attorney to explain matters to him." R.48.

At the hearing to determine Mr. Galindo's competency, trial counsel stipulated that Mr. Galindo was competent to stand trial. R.378. The trial court relied on trial counsel's stipulation, stating, "Based on the two reports and stipulation of counsel the Court will enter a finding then that Mr. Galindo is competent to proceed." R.379.

At trial, the State admitted evidence that the victim identified Mr. Galindo as his shooter from a photo lineup. R.880. A police officer testified that in

another photo lineup, the victim's friend—the only other eyewitness close enough to identify the shooter—picked out one of Mr. Galindo's friends as the shooter with 100% certainty. R.1000–05.

A gun found near the crime scene was also admitted into evidence. R.437, 757. No fingerprints were recovered from the gun, R.1047, but Mr. Galindo's fingerprints were found on the magazine, R.1034–45. The gun's DNA testing was inconclusive because there were too many DNA samples to narrow down the result. R.823–26.

After the State rested, the defense admitted evidence that Mr. Galindo was in the bathroom with his on-again off-again girlfriend “messing around” at the moment of the shooting. R.1093–95. Girlfriend also explained that a gun was present at the party that night and that the guys looked at it and handled it—including Mr. Galindo. R.1091. She testified that she and Mr. Galindo left the bathroom after they heard shouting, and that they ran outside but that she never lost sight of Mr. Galindo. R.1095–1103. During examination of a police witness, defense counsel admitted evidence that the police refused to interview Girlfriend when she contacted them about the case. R.915.

The defense also admitted evidence that there was another prime suspect who was never actually investigated—the tenant of the apartment where Mr. Galindo had spent the evening. R.1008. Defense counsel discovered that the police never showed a photo of the tenant in a photo lineup to any of the

witnesses—including the victim and his friend—who were asked to identify the shooter. R.902, 1008–09.

A jury found Mr. Galindo guilty of attempted murder. R.1248.

3. 23B Evidence

Mr. Galindo's trial counsel has submitted an affidavit detailing what he would have told Dr. Hawks had he communicated with Dr. Hawks while Dr. Hawks was writing his report. (*See Randy Richards Aff. Add D.*) Trial counsel's affidavit explained:

- It was abundantly clear that Mr. Galindo was intellectually disabled;
- Mr. Galindo was unable to assist with preparation for trial;
- Mr. Galindo could not give his trial counsel information about the incident, making it impossible to get adequate witnesses for the defense;
- Mr. Galindo did not appear to be able to understand the proceedings;
- Mr. Galindo would agree with anything trial counsel suggested;
- Trial counsel tested Mr. Galindo's ability to counsel with him at trial by asking him two questions in a row, both suggesting totally opposite answers;
- Mr. Galindo would respond in the affirmative to two totally opposing questions in a row;

- Mr. Galindo was conversant and happy and did not understand the gravity of the offenses and did not understand there was a possibility he could lose at trial;
- Had counsel connected with Dr. Hawks, counsel would have been able to give him information as to his frustrations trying to prepare a defense for Mr. Galindo due to his inability to understand the gravity of the charges;
- Mr. Galindo could not adequately testify at trial;
- Under normal circumstances, trial counsel would have put Mr. Galindo on the stand to explain where he was at the time of the shooting, but it was impossible due to Mr. Galindo's intellectual disability, his inability to understand complex questions, and his total inability to be able to withstand any kind of cross examination.

(Randy Richards Aff. Add. D.).

Summary of the Argument

Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel when he stipulated to Mr. Galindo's competency to withstand trial in light of the findings in the psychologists' reports. The psychologists' reports indicated that Mr. Galindo's IQ placed him far below the mental retardation range, that he was struggling to understand the proceedings, and that he was unable to participate or counsel with his attorney in a rational way. But counsel stipulated to Mr. Galindo's

competence anyway. Because the trial court relied on counsel's stipulation, this error harmed Mr. Galindo.

Trial counsel likewise provided ineffective assistance when he failed to discuss with one psychologist Mr. Galindo's ability to counsel with him at trial or to participate in the proceedings against him. In a rule 23B affidavit, trial counsel admits that had he spoken with the psychologist while the psychologist was preparing his report, he would have provided details supporting a finding of incompetence. There is no conceivable tactical basis for trial counsel's decision not to discuss Mr. Galindo's ability to counsel with him and participate in the proceedings when trial counsel himself requested a psychological evaluation and competency hearing.

In light of the above, cumulative error demands reversal. Had Mr. Galindo gotten a hearing where the psychologists and trial court considered the evidence included in trial counsel's affidavit coupled with a vigorous—or even competent—argument from trial counsel that Mr. Galindo could not participate in his own defense, the outcome of the competency hearing would have been quite different. Trial counsel's double-whammy of (1) stipulating to competency and (2) utterly failing to talk to Dr. Hawks left Mr. Galindo—for all intents and purposes—without an advocate. These two issues should cumulate to obliterate this court's confidence in the outcome of Mr. Galindo's competency hearing.

Argument

1. Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance when he stipulated to Mr. Galindo's competency

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to . . . have Assistance of counsel for his defense.” U.S. Const. amend. XI. That right is now recognized as the right to “*effective* assistance of counsel.” *McMann v. Richardson*, 397 U.S. 759, 771 fn. 14 (1970) (emphasis added) (“It has long been recognized that the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel.”).

To show constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel, Mr. Galindo must show (1) error, i.e. “that [his] counsel’s performance was deficient,” and (2) “that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

1.1 It was error for trial counsel to stipulate to competency under the circumstances

Mr. Galindo’s trial counsel erred when he stipulated to Mr. Galindo’s competency in light of the findings in the psychologists’ reports.

To show attorney error, Mr. Galindo must show “that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness considering all the circumstances.” *State v. Campos*, 2013 UT App 213, ¶ 23, 309 P.3d 1160. Furthermore, “the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy.”

Id. In other words, he must show “that there was no conceivable tactical basis for counsel’s actions.” *State v. Jamieson*, 2017 UT App 236, ¶ 32, 414 P.3d 559.

The Utah Code provides that “no person who is incompetent shall be tried for a public offense.” Utah Code Ann. § 77-15-1 (West). For purposes of trial

a person is incompetent to proceed if he is suffering from a mental disorder or mental retardation resulting either in:

- (1) his inability to have a rational and factual understanding of the proceedings against him or of the punishment specified for the offense charged; or
- (2) his inability to consult with his counsel and to participate in the proceedings against him with a reasonable degree of rational understanding

Id. § 77-15-2. Thus, in statutory shorthand, Mr. Galindo could be incompetent to stand trial if he was “suffering from . . . mental retardation resulting . . . in . . . his ability to consult with his counsel and to participate in the proceedings against him with a reasonable degree of rational understanding.” *Id.*

Trial counsel asked for a review of Mr. Galindo’s competency because, he stated, “In conversing with Mr. Galindo, in the past several court hearings, Mr. Galindo does not appear to be able to comprehend what is going on. Or make rational decisions regarding this case.” R.37.

The subsequent psychologists’ reports confirmed trial counsel’s observations. The Hawks Report concluded that Mr. Galindo’s IQ was 54, plus or minus 5—falling “within the mental retardation/intellectual impairment range of intellectual functioning.” R.56; R.60. The Wilkinson Report used the WASI test,

which placed Mr. Galindo’s IQ at 33—landing him in the bottom fifth percentile. R.45. The Wilkinson Report also stated that Mr. Galindo “is not able to consult with his attorney and participate in the proceeding against him with a reasonable degree of rational understanding.” R.41. That report also acknowledged Mr. Galindo’s confusion in court. R.48.

All of this comes together to paint a very clear picture of a person who “is incompetent to proceed” because “he is suffering from . . . mental retardation resulting . . . in his inability to consult with his counsel and to participate in the proceedings against him with a reasonable degree of rational understanding.” Utah Code Ann. § 77-15-2.

Trial counsel is not faulted with erring if, under an objective standard of reasonableness, there is any tactical basis for his actions. *Campos*, 2013 UT App 213, ¶ 23; *Jamieson*, 2017 UT App 236, ¶ 32. Trial counsel is also granted the head-start of receiving the presumption that “the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy.” *Campos*, 2013 UT App 213, ¶ 23.

There can be no sound trial strategy that includes sending a cognitively impaired client to stand trial for a crime he maintains he never committed. That is not tactical or objectively reasonable. Trial counsel believed Mr. Galindo was impaired enough to ask the court to examine his competency because “in the past several court hearings, Mr. Galindo does not appear to be able to comprehend what is going on. Or make rational decisions regarding this case.” R.37.

After receiving reports stating that medical professionals had determined that Mr. Galindo’s low IQ did indeed place him well within the mental retardation range, that Mr. Galindo was struggling to understand the proceedings, and that he was “not able to consult with his attorney and participate in the proceeding against him with a reasonable degree of rational understanding,” R.41; Utah Code Ann. § 77-15-2, there is no conceivable tactical basis for trial counsel’s stipulation to competency.

1.2 Trial counsel’s stipulation to competency harmed Mr. Galindo, because the trial court relied on it instead of conducting its own review of the issue

In addition to showing error, “[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Id.*

A person may meet the statutory incompetency test in many ways. One way is to show

- (1) that you are “suffering from . . . *mental retardation* resulting . . . in”
- (2) “[your] *inability to consult with [] counsel* and to *participate* in the proceedings against [you] with a *reasonable degree of rational understanding*.”

Utah Code Ann. § 77-15-2 (West) (emphases added).

The mental retardation aspect of the test is clearly met in Mr. Galindo: mental retardation “is clearly defined by the American Psychiatric Association” as

having a measured IQ of 70 and below. R.60. Mr. Galindo's IQ is reportedly about 54, plus or minus 5, which is on his best day somewhere closer to 59—still 11 points shy of 70. And one report stated he was in the bottom fifth percentile. R.45.

What's more, one report in no uncertain terms stated that he was "not able to consult with his attorney and participate in the proceeding against him with a reasonable degree of rational understanding." R.41; Utah Code Ann. § 77-15-2.

But at the competency hearing, trial counsel failed to argue on Mr. Galindo's behalf that Mr. Galindo was incompetent even though, as the psychologists' reports indicated, his IQ placed him far below the mental retardation range, he was struggling to understand the proceedings, and he was unable to participate or counsel with his attorney in a rational way. R.41.

Instead, at the competency hearing, trial counsel stipulated that Mr. Galindo was competent to stand trial. R.378. And the trial court relied on trial counsel's stipulation, giving as one of its reasons for entering a finding of "competent to proceed" the "stipulation of counsel." R.379.

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