2018

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Patrick Bobby Galindo, Jr.,  
Defendant/Appellant : Brief of Appellee**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

I. Defendant claims that his counsel was ineffective for stipulating to his competency after two evaluations resolved his counsel’s concerns about his mental state and found Defendant competent. Defendant cannot carry

his burden to show that his counsel was ineffective because he offers no evidence of prejudice—a reasonable probability that but for counsel’s stipulation, there is a reasonable probability the court would have found him incompetent. Both evaluators unequivocally found Defendant to be competent, thus resolving counsel’s initial concerns. Defendant also demonstrated his competence during his police interview and plea colloquy. There is no evidence that Defendant was incompetent.

Defendant also cannot demonstrate deficient performance—that his counsel’s decision to stipulate was objectively unreasonable. Defendant claims that all he must show to prove deficient performance is that there was no conceivable tactical basis for his counsel to stipulate to Defendant’s competency. This Court’s case law supports that position. But both this Court and Defendant misunderstand the deficient performance standard. Deficient performance is measured by whether counsel’s performance is objectively reasonable, not by whether it is good strategy. Although Utah law may not be clear on this point, United States Supreme Court case law is. It controls.

Defendant cannot show deficient performance because reasonable counsel could decide to stipulate to Defendant’s competency where two

evaluations unanimously and unequivocally resolved counsel's initial concerns about Defendant's mental state and Defendant demonstrated his competency during his police interview and plea colloquy.

During his police interview, Defendant demonstrated a rational and factual understand of the criminal proceedings and possible punishments. He also demonstrated the ability to converse about the charges and evidence with a reasonable degree of rational understanding. He articulated and consistently maintained a coherent defense, despite the officer's insistence that the evidence all pointed to him. Both Defendant and his counsel also certified that Defendant was competent when he entered his guilty plea.

Although Defendant challenges both of his convictions in this appeal, his guilty plea waived all non-jurisdictional defects in his firearm-possession conviction. Defendant can therefore challenge only his attempted murder conviction in this appeal.

**II.** Defendant also claims that his counsel was ineffective for not consulting with one of the evaluators – Dr. Hawks. He claims that if counsel had shared his additional observations about Defendant's mental state with Dr. Hawks, there is a reasonable probability that the trial court would have found Defendant incompetent. Defendant includes his counsel's additional

observations in an affidavit and seeks a rule 23B remand to include these observations in the appellate record. Because this claim depends on extra-record evidence, this Court cannot grant relief absent a rule 23B remand. This Court should not grant a remand for the reasons stated in the accompanying response to Defendant's remand motion.

**III.** Defendant argues that the cumulative-error doctrine entitles him to relief. But that doctrine is inapplicable for two reasons. First, had Defendant proven a reasonable probability that he was incompetent, he would have been entitled to relief without any additional prejudice showing. Second, Defendant has not shown any error that could accumulate in any event.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**Counsel was not ineffective for stipulating to Defendant's competency because there is no evidence that Defendant was incompetent; competency evaluations resolved counsel's initial concerns and Defendant further demonstrated his competency during his police interview and plea colloquy.**

Defendant argues that his counsel was ineffective for stipulating to Defendant's competency after counsel had requested a competency evaluation based on concerns that Defendant allegedly could not understand the proceedings or make rational decisions. Br.Aplt.11-16. Defendant argues

that counsel should not have stipulated to Defendant's competency because the "psychologists' reports confirmed trial counsel's observations" and "no sound trial strategy ... includes sending a cognitively impaired client to stand trial." Br.Aplt.12-13. Defendant argues that he suffered prejudice because "the trial court relied on [the stipulation] instead of conducting its own review" of Defendant's competency. Br.Aplt.14 (bolding omitted).

Defendant cannot carry his heavy burden to show that his counsel was ineffective because he offers no evidence of prejudice—a reasonable probability that he was incompetent. Moreover, Defendant cannot prove that his counsel was deficient because reasonable counsel could decide to stipulate to Defendant's competency given Defendant's demonstrated abilities during his police interview, competency evaluations, and plea colloquy.

**A. Defendant cannot show prejudice because he offers no evidence that he was incompetent at all.**

To show that his counsel was ineffective, Defendant must prove that (1) his counsel performed deficiently, and (2) he was prejudiced as a result. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687-89, 694 (1984). To prove that he suffered *Strickland* prejudice, Defendant must prove that there is "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result

of the proceeding would have been different.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. Thus, to prove prejudice in the context of a competency issue, a defendant must show a reasonable probability that but for his counsel’s deficient performance, the defendant “would have been found incompetent.” *State v. Biebinger*, 2018 UT App 123, ¶16, 428 P.3d 36; *accord*, *Taylor v. State*, 2007 UT 12, ¶95, 156 P.3d 739 (rejecting ineffective-assistance claim in part because defendant “has not shown that, had a competency hearing been requested and granted, the court would have found evidence of incompetence”).

Defendant cannot prove prejudice because there is no evidence of a reasonable probability that the trial court would have found him to be incompetent absent his counsel’s stipulation. Though counsel alleged that Defendant seemed to be unable to understand the proceedings and make rational decisions, two independent psychologists concluded otherwise after complete competency evaluations. R41-48,53-65. Both evaluators unequivocally concluded that Defendant was competent. R55,47. The evaluations conclusively dispelled any concerns about Defendant’s competency, whether from his counsel or some other source.

Moreover, both counsel and Defendant later certified that Defendant was competent during the plea colloquy on the bifurcated charge on the last

day of trial. R179-80. And the trial court noted that Defendant appeared competent based on the court's observations throughout trial and his interaction with Defendant in particular during the plea colloquy. R1257.

Defendant therefore points to no evidence that would show that, but for his counsel's stipulation, there is a reasonable probability that the trial court would have found him incompetent. To the contrary, all the evidence shows that he was competent. He therefore has not proven prejudice. *See Biebinger*, 2018 UT App 123, ¶16.

**B. Defendant cannot show deficient performance because he misunderstands, and thus fails to satisfy, *Strickland's* deficient performance standard.**

Relying on *State v. Jamieson*, 2017 UT App 236, ¶32, 414 P.3d 559, *cert. granted* 421 P.3d 439, Defendant argues that he can show that his counsel performed deficiently merely by demonstrating “that there was no conceivable tactical basis for counsel's actions.” Br.Aplt.12 (quoting *Jamieson*, 2017 UT App 236, ¶32). Defendant is incorrect. Although a footnote in *Jamieson* supports Defendant's argument, both Defendant and *Jamieson* misunderstand *Strickland's* deficient performance element.

**1. *Strickland's* deficient performance standard requires Defendant to prove that his counsel's performance was objectively unreasonable, not merely that it lacked a conceivable tactical basis.**

To show that his counsel performed deficiently, Defendant must show more than that there was no conceivable tactical basis for his counsel's actions. *Strickland* measures deficient performance by whether counsel's performance "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." 466 U.S. at 688. Thus, the determinative question "is not whether counsel's choices were strategic, but whether they were reasonable." *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470, 481 (2000).

An evaluation of possible strategic reasons for counsel's decisions is relevant to a *Strickland* deficient-performance analysis, but it is not dispositive. Possible strategic explanations are relevant because *Strickland* recognizes that "[t]here are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way." 466 U.S. at 689. Thus, to ensure counsel the flexibility to defend their clients in the way they believe is most effective, the *Strickland* standard "strongly presume[s]" that counsel "made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment." *Id.* at 690.



Given this presumption, when conceivable tactical bases support trial counsel's actions, a defendant has not rebutted the strong presumption that his counsel performed reasonably. *See State v. Clark*, 2004 UT 25, ¶7, 89 P.3d 162 (explaining that defendant claiming ineffective assistance must show that "there was *no conceivable tactical basis* for counsel's actions") (cleaned up) (emphasis in original). The *Strickland* presumption of a sound strategy thus can be dispositive, but only of a finding of effective performance, not deficient performance.

The lack of a considered strategic basis for counsel's performance does not automatically render his performance objectively unreasonable. *See Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. at 481. Even when a considered strategic reason for counsel's performance seems elusive, a defendant still cannot carry his burden of proving deficient performance unless he can show that his counsel's performance "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-88. Counsel's performance is not deficient merely because a reviewing court cannot conceive of a tactical basis for counsel's performance.

This is because the *Strickland* standard further recognizes that counsel cannot possibly be expected to have a strategic reason for his every act or

omission. The purpose of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel “is not to improve the quality of legal representation.” *Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. at 481 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689). Rather, it is “simply to ensure that criminal defendants receive a fair trial.” *Id.* (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689). “Just as there is no expectation that competent counsel will be a flawless strategist or tactician, an attorney may not be faulted for a reasonable miscalculation or lack of foresight or for failing to prepare for what appear to be remote possibilities.” *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 110 (2011). Counsel performs deficiently only when overlooking an issue is “sufficiently egregious and prejudicial,” *id.* at 111 (citation omitted), that “no competent attorney” would have missed it, *Premo v. Moore*, 562 U.S. 115, 124 (2011).

The Sixth Amendment therefore recognizes that counsel may “focus[] on some issues to the exclusion of others.” *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003). When that occurs, “there is a strong presumption that [counsel] did so for tactical reasons rather than through sheer neglect.” *Id.* “The Sixth Amendment,” therefore, “guarantees reasonable competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight.” *Id.*; accord *Burt v. Titlow*, 571 U.S. 12, 24 (2013); *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687.

Thus, to prove deficient performance, a defendant must do more than merely rebut the strong presumption that “under the circumstances, the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689 (cleaned up). A defendant must ultimately prove that his counsel’s performance “fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” *Strickland* 466 U.S. at 688; *Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. at 481.

The Supreme Court has distilled the rule to this: counsel’s representation is objectively reasonable, and therefore constitutionally compliant, unless “no competent attorney” would have proceeded as he did. *Premo*, 562 U.S. at 124.

The State made this argument in *Jamieson* and this Court rejected it in a footnote, asserting that the argument was “not supported by [Utah] case law.” 2017 UT App 236, ¶37 n.7. But “the standard of proof for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel ... is a matter of federal law, on which [Utah Court’s] are bound to follow Supreme Court precedent.” *State v. Sessions*, 2014 UT 44, ¶37, 342 P.3d 738). The above-cited case law demonstrates that *Strickland’s* deficient-performance prong require a defendant to prove objectively unreasonable performance, not the mere absence of a conceivable tactical basis for counsel’s action.

**2. Defendant has not shown that counsel's stipulation that Defendant was competent was objectively unreasonable where all evidence demonstrated that Defendant was competent.**

Reasonable counsel could decide to stipulate to Defendant's competency because all the evidence showed that Defendant was competent. The competency evaluations resolved counsel's earlier concerns about Defendant's competency and there is no other evidence that Defendant was incompetent.

When Defendant committed his crimes, the Utah Code provided that:

a person is incompetent to proceed if he is suffering from a mental disorder or mental retardation resulting either in:

(1) his inability to have a rational and factual understanding of the proceedings against him or of the punishment specified for the offense charged; or

(2) his inability to consult with his counsel and to participate in the proceedings against him with a reasonable degree of rational understanding.

Utah Code Ann. §77-15-2 (2017).

There is no evidence that Defendant met this standard. Rather, all the evidence showed that Defendant was competent: two psychologists found that he was and his statements to both police and to the trial court further demonstrated that he was.

Evaluations. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]



[REDACTED]

**Police Interview.** Defendant also demonstrated his competency during his police interview. During that interview, Defendant was able to coherently describe a defense. He claimed that although he was in the apartment where others involved were later located, Defendant said that he was kissing his girlfriend in the bathroom when he heard gunshots and that he left the apartment only after the gunshots. SE#64 at 10:50-11:05;13:00-14:35. Defendant was able to recall and relate what he did in the hours and minutes both before and after the shooting. SE#64 at 7:08-14:35.

Defendant also demonstrated the ability to understand the significance of the evidence against him. When the Detective said that Defendant's fingerprints were on the gun, Defendant first claimed that he had never seen the gun, but later claimed that someone had pulled that gun on him two days before the shooting. SE#64 at 28:00-29:35. He maintained that he had never touched the gun. SE#64 at 30:20-30:35. Towards the end of the recorded interview, the detective left the room while Defendant called his mother on the detective's phone. SE#64 at 32:00-41:00. Defendant showed that he comprehended the significance of the evidence against him when he told his mother "They have all this s---. All this s---. Even though I— even though it wasn't me you know how many people that they got f----n tellin'." SE#64 at 34:20-34:40.

Defendant was also able to logically explain why the police should not suspect him. He reasoned that if he were guilty, he would have fled rather than stay in Utah where the police could find him. SE#64 at 5:45-6:55;17:30-18:00. He explained that it would be "just dumb" to shoot someone and not flee and asked "Why would I do some stupid s--- like that?" SE#64 at 12:30-12:55. He reminded the officer that he did not flee or hide. SE#64 at 12:46-12:55. Defendant later added that he was "a straight-up person" who would

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